SJSU SAN JOSÉ STATE UNIVERSITY



Intelligent Blind Crossings for Suburban and Rural Intersections

Shahab Tayeb, PhD



CSUTC California State University Transportation Consortium



CSU TRANSPORTATION CONSORTIUM

transweb.sjsu.edu/csutc

MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

Founded in 1991, the Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI), an organized research and training unit in partnership with the Lucas College and Graduate School of Business at San José State University (SJSU), increases mobility for all by improving the safety, efficiency, accessibility, and convenience of our nation's transportation system. Through research, education, workforce development, and technology transfer, we help create a connected world. MTI leads the Mineta Consortium for Equitable, Efficient, and Sustainable Transportation (MCEEST) funded by the U.S. Department of Transportation, the California State University Transportation Consortium (CSUTC) funded by the State of California through Senate Bill I and the Climate Change and Extreme Events Training and Research (CCEETR) Program funded by the Federal Railroad Administration. MTI focuses on three primary responsibilities:

Research

MTI conducts multi-disciplinary research focused on surface transportation that contributes to effective decision making. Research areas include: active transportation; planning and policy; security and counterterrorism; sustainable transportation and land use; transit and passenger rail; transportation engineering; transportation finance; transportation technology; and workforce and labor. MTI research publications undergo expert peer review to ensure the quality of the research.

Education and Workforce Development

To ensure the efficient movement of people and products, we must prepare a new cohort of transportation professionals who are ready to lead a more diverse, inclusive, and equitable transportation industry. To help achieve this, MTI sponsors a suite of workforce development and education opportunities. The Institute supports educational programs offered by the Lucas Graduate School of Business: a Master of Science in Transportation Management, plus graduate certificates that include High-Speed and Intercity Rail Management and Transportation Security Management. These flexible programs offer live online classes so that working transportation professionals can pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location.

Information and Technology Transfer

MTI utilizes a diverse array of dissemination methods and to ensure research results reach those media responsible for managing change. These methods include workshops, publication, seminars, websites, social webinars, and other technology transfer media, mechanisms. Additionally, MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and works to integrate the research findings into the **MTI's** extensive graduate education program. collection of transportation-related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. MTI's research is funded, partially or entirely, by grants from the U.S. Department of Transportation, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, the California Department of Transportation, and the California State University Office of the Chancellor, whom assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation. Report 24-48

Intelligent Blind Crossings for Suburban and Rural Intersections

Shahab Tayeb, PhD

February 2025

A publication of the Mineta Transportation Institute Created by Congress in 1991

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1. Report No. 24-48	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.	
4. Title and Subtitle Intelligent Blind Crossings for Suburban and Rural Intersections		5. Report Date February 2025	
		6. Performing Organization Code	
7. Authors Shahab Tayeb, PhD		8. Performing Organization Report CA-MTI-2351	
9. Performing Organization Name and Address Mineta Transportation Institute		10. Work Unit No.	
College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219		11. Contract or Grant No. ZSB12017-SJAUX	
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address State of California SB1 2017/2018 Trustees of the California State University Sponsored Programs Administration 401 Golden Shore, 5 th Floor Long Beach, CA 90802		13. Type of Report and Pe	riod Covered
		14. Sponsoring Agency Code	
15. Supplemental Notes 10.31979/mti.2024.2351			
16. Abstract Blind intersections in suburban and rural infrastructure. This project proposes an in connected and autonomous vehicles (CA research focuses on developing a specialize implemented on a Field-Programmable G manufacturers, and local communities, sta component, facilitating efficient intersec adapting the Virtual Traffic Light Algorit communication operability through softw lightweight RSUs to enhance sustainability of the proposed RSU solution in enhancin Light Algorithm on the FPGA demonstra communication validates the effectiveness advancing safety measures in transportatio development.	areas pose significant safety challeng nnovative solution leveraging the Inter- Vs) for seamless communication to d Road-Side Unit (RSU) system equip ate Array (FPGA). Key stakeholders, nd to benefit from this initiative. The tion management and mitigating vi- thm, integrating it into the FPGA-ba- rare-defined radios. Additionally, a n and energy efficiency. The project's fir- ng safety at blind intersections. Succe tes its potential for real-world deploym s of the proposed communication sy- n infrastructure, with potential implic	tes due to limited visibility ar ernet of Vehicles (IoV) parad enhance safety at these inter oped with a Virtual Traffic Lig including transportation author RSU system acts as a critical sibility challenges. Methodo ased RSU system, and demor ovel solar-powered system is adings indicate the feasibility a ssful implementation of the V nent. The operability demonst stem. Overall, this research of ations for future urban planni	nd inadequate ligm, utilizing sections. The ght Algorithm orities, vehicle infrastructure logies involve nstrating RSU a designed for nd practicality Virtual Traffic ration of RSU contributes to ing and policy
17. Key Words Information dissemination and retrieval, Innovation, Knowledge management, Smart cities, Security.	18. Distribution Statement No restrictions. This document is available to the public through The National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161.		
19. Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified	20. Security Classif. (of this page) Unclassified	21. No. of Pages 30	22. Price

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Copyright © 2025

by Mineta Transportation Institute

All rights reserved.

DOI: 10.31979/mti.2024.2351

Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

Tel: (408) 924-7560 Fax: (408) 924-7565 Email: mineta-institute@sjsu.edu

transweb.sjsu.edu/research/2351

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author acknowledges the contributions of faculty collaborators Drs. Matin Pirouz, Reza Raeisi, Aaron Stillmaker, and Aly Tawfik as well as undergraduate students Mr. Jack White, Ms. Sumanjit Gill, and Mr. Robert Wong who completed their senior design project on this topic.

CONTENTS

Acknowledgmentsvi
List of Figures viii
Executive Summary
1. Introduction
1.1 The Internet of Vehicles
1.2 Vehicular Communications
1.3 Vehicular Standards 4
2. Methodology
2.1 Intersection Selection Criteria5
2.2 Characteristics of the Selected Intersection
3. Experimentation
3.1 Experimentation Setup
3.2 SAE J2735
3.3 Simulation
4. Findings
4.1 Results14
4.2 Power Analysis
5. Summary & Conclusions
Bibliography
About the Author

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Example Rural North–South Intersection
Figure 2. Example East-West Rural Intersection
Figure 3. System Layout
Figure 4. GNU Radio Transmitter Flowchart9
Figure 5. GNU Radio Receiver Flowchart9
Figure 6. Possible Paths Communicated to/from the RSU 11
Figure 7. Simulation Scenario 12
Figure 8. RSU Message Generation 13
Figure 9. Successful Traffic Management of Four Vehicles at the Blind Intersection on Nios II Eclipse
Figure 10. Successful Traffic Management for Scenarios of Three Vehicles and Two Vehicles at the Blind Intersection
Figure 11. Successful Traffic Management of a Single Vehicle at the Blind Intersection 16
Figure 12. Traffic Management Conducted by the RSU 17

Executive Summary

This project underscores the compromised safety at blind intersections, attributing it to factors such as limited visibility, high traffic speeds, inadequate infrastructure, and more notably absent infrastructural support such as stoplights. This safety challenge is particularly present in suburban and rural intersections, where traffic infrastructure development lags. In response to these concerns, the Internet of Vehicles (IoV) emerges as a pivotal solution, aiming to bolster safety through a network of connected and autonomous vehicles (CAVs) adept at seamless communication. This project advocates for a tailored approach to blind intersections in suburban and rural settings: a specialized Road-Side Unit (RSU) meticulously designed to alleviate visibility challenges inherent to such intersections.

The proposed solution involves the implementation of a RSU system leveraging Field-Programmable Gate Arrays (FPGAs). A distinctive algorithm, inspired by virtual traffic light methodologies, is integrated into the system to streamline intersection management. Key components of this solution comprise an FPGA housing the implementation of the algorithm, a communication module overseeing inter-vehicular communication, and a solar-powered energy system, supported by a simulation validating the operational efficacy of the proposed RSU. This comprehensive approach aims to enhance safety and address the unique challenges posed by blind intersections in suburban and rural intersections.

1. Introduction

The spectrum of vehicular autonomy is delineated across six intertwined levels, ranging from Level 0 to Level 5, as classified by the Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) [1]. Each level corresponds to a specific degree of driving automation, with:

- Level 0 signifying 'No Driving Automation'
- Level 1 indicating 'Driver Assistance'
- Level 2 encompassing 'Partial Driving Automation'
- Level 3 involving 'Conditional Driving Automation'
- Level 4 denoting 'High Driving Automation'
- Level 5 representing the pinnacle of autonomy as 'Full Driving Automation'.

The realization of vehicular autonomy hinges on the integration of diverse sensors and connectivity. The underlying machine learning models play a pivotal role in vehicle control and fostering interactions with other Connected and Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs) and the road infrastructure. Leveraging data acquired by on-board sensors, these models make informed decisions. Notable on-board sensors include radio detection and ranging (radar), sound navigation and ranging (sonar), light detection and ranging (LiDAR), and cameras. Radar and sonar sensors utilize radio and sound waves respectively to detect objects and ascertain their distance, while camera and LiDAR sensors rely on a direct line of sight for visual detection and distance determination of objects.

1.1 The Internet of Vehicles

The Internet of Vehicles (IoV) constitutes a network of Connected and Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs) that engage in seamless communication with each other and with the road-side infrastructure. The envisioned functionality of the IoV is as follows: As vehicles traverse, they exchange pertinent information, including geographical location, speed, and intentions to change lanes. Strategically positioned road-side units govern specific areas within the network, and a central trust authority may also be present to oversee a broader jurisdiction. These units disseminate crucial information to vehicles, such as updates on traffic accidents and road conditions [2].

The central objective of the IoV is to enhance societal safety by curbing the influence of reckless drivers and minimizing decisions that jeopardize lives. This transformation envisions a safer transportation landscape where pedestrians can confidently cross streets, intersections adhere to established rules, and speed limits are consistently enforced. Additionally, the IoV has the potential

to optimize routing, contributing to more efficient transportation in everyday life. Emergency vehicles such as ambulances and firetrucks stand to benefit from expedited navigation to their destinations (e.g., unimpeded by drivers who disregard their sirens) [3].

However, the successful implementation of the IoV necessitates meticulous consideration of resource constraints, including time and power. Efficient resource allocation is critical to prevent network congestion and maintain optimal functionality [6]. Furthermore, security emerges as a paramount concern due to the inherent vulnerability of the IoV to cyberattacks such as exploitation of the low-security in-vehicle Controller Area Network (CAN) bus, man-in-the-middle attacks, and replay attacks. The unmitigated consequences of such attacks, including injury and death for drivers and pedestrians, underscore the imperative of robust security mechanisms to safeguard the IoV's overarching safety objectives [4].

1.2 Vehicular Communications

Effective vehicular communication demands adherence to standards ensuring both safety compliance within a vast network of swiftly moving vehicles and operation within constraints of limited resources. Dedicated Short-Range Communication (DSRC) emerges as a wireless communication framework specifically tailored for automotive applications, encompassing vehicle-to-vehicle (V2V), vehicle-to-infrastructure (V2I), and vehicle-to-everything (V2X) communication.

In the realm of wireless communication for Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS), DSRC has secured frequency allocations of 5.850–5.925 GHz by the United States Federal Communications Commission (FCC) and 5.875–5.905 GHz by the European Union. This wireless communication paradigm is integrated into the IEEE 802.11 standard (Wi-Fi) under the Wireless Access in Vehicular Environments (WAVE) framework, specifically addressed by the 802.11p standard. Initially an extension of 802.11, 802.11p delineated the Physical Layer and the Data Link Layer without incorporating features such as exponential backoff or acknowledgements. Subsequently designated as IEEE standard 802.11-OCB (Outside the Context of a Basic Service Set), WAVE incorporates IEEE 1609 for security services (IEEE 1609.2), and multi-channel operation (IEEE 1609.4).

Vehicular networks must fulfill mobility requirements, including supporting speeds up to 200 km/hr, ensuring a wide communication range, and maintaining communication within a 100 ms timeframe [5]. V2I communication facilitates mobility management, wherein vehicles relay their position and trajectory to infrastructure for predictive analysis of future positions [7]. Another protocol contributing to vehicular network mobility is Mobile IPv6, defining a mechanism for mobile nodes to retain the same IP address during operations such as transitioning between links, managing node operations, and handling ICMP messages [9].

1.3 Vehicular Standards

The vehicular standards that were followed throughout this project include the following:

Autonomy:

- SAE J3016: Taxonomy and Definitions for Terms Related to Driving Automation Systems for On-Road Motor Vehicles
- DSRC/WAVE Communication Protocol:
 - IEEE 1609: Family of Standards for Wireless Access in Vehicular Environments (WAVE)
 - IEEE 802.11p: IEEE Standard for Information technology—Local and metropolitan area networksSolar Power System Standards:
 - IEEE 1013: Recommended Practice for Sizing Lead-Acid Batteries for Stand-Alone Photovoltaic (PV) Systems.
 - IEEE 1361: IEEE Guide for Selection, Charging, Test and Evaluation of Lead-Acid Batteries Used in Stand-Alone Photovoltaic (PV) Systems
 - IEEE 1562: IEEE Guide for Array and Battery Sizing in Stand-Alone Photovoltaic (PV) Systems

Additional standards relevant to the field of IoV include the following:

- ETSI TR 102 893: Intelligent Transportation Systems; Security; Threat, Vulnerability, and Risk Analysis
- ETSI TS 102 941: Intelligent Transportation Systems; Security; Trust and Privacy Management
- ETSI TS 103 097: Intelligent Transportation Systems; Security; Security header and certificate formats
- USDOT Report FHWA-JPO-17-589: Dedicated Short-Range Communications Road-Side Unit Specifications

2. Methodology

The outlined methodology ensures a focused approach to developing a roadside unit prototype tailored to the unique challenges presented by blind intersections in suburban and rural areas featuring two-way stop signs. We propose to develop an FPGA-based system for Road-Side Unit (RSU) devices to oversee vehicle interactions at a rural blind intersection. This involves the following steps:

- a. Determine Interaction Flowchart: Define the interaction algorithm that governs how vehicles will communicate and interact at the rural blind intersection.
- b. Design Embedded System: Design the embedded system using Quartus Prime and Qsys, integrating the determined algorithm. Program the algorithm using NIOS II Software Build Tools for Eclipse.
- c. Optimize System Power Consumption: Implement measures to optimize power consumption within the designed FPGA-based system, ensuring efficient energy utilization.
- d. Create a Communication Module for the RSU Device: Establish a communication module to facilitate seamless communication among vehicles at the rural blind intersection.
- e. System Integration: Develop and integrate the 802.11 interface for effective communication as well as conduct integration testing to ensure harmonious operation between the communication module and the FPGA-based system.
- f. Optimize System Power Consumption: Employ strategies to minimize power consumption in the communication module as well as design and configure a power system tailored to the specific needs of the RSU device.

2.1 Intersection Selection Criteria

The study focuses specifically on blind intersections in suburban and rural areas characterized by two-way stop signs. Other intersection types, including those with three- or four-way stop signs, are excluded from consideration for the roadside unit prototype. This exclusion is based on the distinct traffic patterns associated with intersections featuring different stop sign configurations. The rationale behind excluding intersections with three- or four-way stop signs is rooted in the need for distinct logic in managing traffic flow. By concentrating solely on two-way stop sign scenarios, the study can develop a roadside unit prototype tailored to the specific challenges posed by blind intersections in suburban and rural areas. Geographical specificity is addressed through the selection of a blind intersection situated east of Fresno. This location provides a tangible case study for assessing the prototype's effectiveness in mitigating visibility challenges associated with rural blind intersections.

MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

2.2 Characteristics of the Selected Intersection

The blind intersections under consideration involve a main road with faster traffic and no stop sign intersected by a side road [10]. The chosen prototype scenario aims to capture the dynamics of intersections where the side road joins the main road. Illustrative examples of such intersections are depicted in Figures 5 and 6, showcasing a rural intersection east of Fresno situated at coordinates (36°42'26.6" N, 119°15'32.1" W). The blind nature of these intersections arises from the topography, particularly the positioning of the side road at the summit of a hill, obstructing the line of sight from one side of the intersection to the other.

The selected intersection's characteristics and blind nature are visually validated through the inclusion of Figures 1 and 2 below, offering a concrete representation of the intersection's layout and potential visibility constraints. This visual verification serves to enhance the understanding of the chosen prototype scenario.



Figure 1. Example Rural North–South Intersection



Figure 2. Example East-West Rural Intersection





3. Experimentation

3.1 Experimentation Setup

The experimentation involved the utilization of the Quartus Prime Education Design Suite to design the RSU system for the Terasic DE2-115 board. Subsequently, the board is programmed to execute the necessary operations. The Software Build Tools for Eclipse, integrated into the Quartus Prime Suite, facilitate the development and programming processes, requiring proficiency in C programming. Programming the HackRF One for wireless communication involves the use of GNU Radio on the designated PC. This step ensures the correct configuration of the HackRF One to align with the IEEE 802.11p standard. The overall experimentation setup incorporates a seamless integration of hardware and software components, leveraging established tools for system design, programming, and wireless communication configuration. To execute 802.11 on the SDRs, the communication module relies on a GNU Radio project. This project is bifurcated into two distinct components: the transmitter and the receiver.

- The Terasic DE2-115 Development and Education Board serves as the primary component for processing information within the Road-Side Unit (RSU), featuring a Cyclone IV E processor.
- The HackRF One is employed for wireless communication with vehicles. This softwaredefined radio can be programmatically configured to adhere to the IEEE 802.11p standard while meeting the DSRC/Wave standards.
- Quartus Prime Education Design Suite: The experimentation necessitates a workstation equipped with the Quartus Prime Education Design Suite. This suite is utilized to design the system for the DE2-115 board and to program the board for the requisite operations. Notably, the Software Build Tools for Eclipse, employing C programming, are embedded within the Quartus Prime Suite.
- GNU Radio: The workstation is also employed to run GNU Radio, a crucial tool for programming the HackRF Ones to facilitate wireless communication.

Figure 3 presents the system layout of the experimentation setup. The leftmost laptop controls the DE2-115 FPGA board, the middle laptop controls the transmitting HackRF One SDR, and the rightmost laptop controls the receiving HackRF One SDR.

Figure 3. System Layout



The communication module utilizes two software defined radios (SDRs), the previously mentioned HackRF Ones, that are connected by a coaxial cable. The cable is used for demonstration purposes: Transmitting a signal is practically the same, except it does not broadcast over open radio frequencies and does not potentially interfere with restricted frequencies. The communication module uses a GNU radio project to implement 802.11 on the SDRs. The project is separated into two parts: the transmitter, and the receiver. The GNU Radio flowchart for the transmitter is shown in Figure 4. The GNU Radio flowchart for the receiver is shown in Figure 5.



Figure 4. GNU Radio Transmitter Flowchart





3.2 SAE J2735

In accordance with the stipulations set forth by the Society of Automotive Engineers (SAE) in document J2735, it is established that vehicles within a vehicular network disseminate crucial safety messages at a rapid rate, transmitting data ten times per second. These messages, vital for the simulation framework, are streamlined to encapsulate essential information comprising the vehicle's unique identification, as well as its precise spatial coordinates along the x and y axes.

Within this communication framework, the RSU assumes a pivotal role, orchestrating the flow of information by dispatching targeted unicast messages to individual vehicles within its vicinity. These unicast messages are meticulously crafted, containing pertinent details such as the vehicle's identification alongside distinct flags denoting the status of the traffic signal—whether it be signaling a green light, a red light, or soliciting information regarding the vehicle's intended direction.

In response to these tailored inquiries from the RSU, vehicles promptly relay their intentions via a unicast message. This transmission encompasses a binary representation signaling the vehicle's next maneuver, whether it be a straightforward progression (indicated by the binary code 11), a right turn (01), or a left turn (10). This exchange of data forms the cornerstone of an intricate vehicular communication system, facilitating efficient and safe navigation within dynamic traffic environments.

3.3 Simulation

Within the realm of vehicular simulation, a microcosm was constructed to simulate real-world driving scenarios with precision. At the core of this simulation lay a dynamic representation of intersections, intricately mapped out as directed graphs, with each lane meticulously defined as edges within this graphical structure. This simulated environment was tailored to emulate the complex spatial relationships and traffic flow dynamics inherent to urban intersections.

Driving the simulation forward was the Intelligent Driver Model (IDM), a sophisticated algorithmic framework renowned for its ability to replicate authentic driving behaviors. Leveraging the IDM, the simulation accurately computed the positions of each virtual vehicle as they traversed their designated paths within the intersection graph, factoring in variables such as velocity, acceleration, and inter-vehicle spacing.

As these simulated vehicles navigated the virtual landscape, they actively communicated their realtime positions to a central RSU node. The RSU served as the nerve center of the simulation, orchestrating the exchange of critical information between vehicles and the simulation environment. In response to these transmissions, the RSU played a pivotal role in managing the flow of information within the simulated domain (see Figure 6 for a complete set of the possible paths that are communicated via the RSU). Tailored messages were dispatched to individual vehicles, conveying vital instructions and updates regarding traffic conditions and signal status. This bidirectional communication framework fostered a dynamic feedback loop, enabling vehicles to adapt their behaviors in real-time based on the information received from the RSU, thus enhancing overall traffic efficiency and safety within the simulated environment.





Within the simulation framework presented in Figure 7, one can observe a scenario that showcases the traffic light algorithm in operation. In this scenario, there are two vehicles positioned on each side road, while one vehicle is situated on the main road. The main road consists of lanes designated as L1 and L2, which hold priority over the side road lanes denoted as L3 and L4.

As per the traffic light algorithm, the vehicle positioned on the main road (Vehicle 5) is granted the green light, allowing it to proceed through the intersection. Conversely, Vehicles 6 and 9, situated on the side roads, receive red lights and come to a complete stop, yielding to the vehicle with the right of way.

Furthermore, while Vehicles 7 and 8 are not leading vehicles within their respective lanes, they also come to a halt as the vehicles ahead of them have stopped in compliance with the traffic signal. This adherence to the traffic light algorithm ensures orderly and safe passage through the intersection, effectively managing the flow of traffic and prioritizing vehicles based on their designated lanes and positions within the simulated environment (see Figure 8).

Figure 7. Simulation Scenario



```
Broadcast Message: ID: 00000101 X: 00000000001110 Y: 00000000000101
Broadcast Message: ID: 00000110 X: 00000000000000 Y: 100000000001101
Broadcast Message: ID: 00000111 X: 00000000000000 Y: 100000000000000
Broadcast Message: ID: 00001000 X: 0000000000000 Y: 000000000010001
Broadcast Message: ID: 00001001 X: 00000000000000 Y: 00000000001100
Determining Lane Leaders...
L1 Leader is: NULL
L2 Leader is: Vehicle 5
L3 Leader is: Vehicle 6
L4 Leader is: Vehicle 9
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00000101 Flags: 0001
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00000101 Intention: 0001
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00000110 Flags: 0001
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00000110 Intention: 0001
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00001001 Flags: 0001
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00001001 Intention: 0010
Vehicle 5 gets a green light.
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00000101 Flags: 0100
Vehicle 6 and Vehicle 9 get a red light.
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00000110 Flags: 0010
```

Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00001001 Flags: 0010

4. Findings

4.1 Results

Various traffic scenarios were simulated and successfully facilitated by the RSU. Four such scenarios

are presented in Figures 9, 10, and 11. Indicated in Figure 9, there are four vehicles at the intersection that are broadcasting their positional information to the RSU: Vehicle 16, Vehicle 11, Vehicle 12, and Vehicle 17. Vehicles 11, 16, and 17 are determined to be the lane leaders for Lane 1, Lane 3, and Lane 4 respectively. The RSU then issues unicast messages to the lane leaders asking for their intention. Vehicle 11 responds with a unicast message indicating it intends to turn left, Vehicle 16 states its intention to turn left, and Vehicle 17 states it plans to turn right. Because Vehicle 11 is on the main road and there is no vehicle in Lane 2, it is issued a green light. Vehicles 16 and 17 are issued red lights to wait until the intersection is clear.

There are then three vehicles in the intersection that transmit broadcast messages to the RSU: Vehicle 12, Vehicle 16, and Vehicle 17 (refer to Figure 10). These three vehicles are determined to be the lane leaders for Lane 1, Lane 3, and Lane 4, respectively. The RSU issues unicast messages to these vehicles to determine their intentions. Vehicle 12 responds by stating it intends to turn right, Vehicle 16 relays that its intention is to turn left, and Vehicle 17 states it intends on turning right. Vehicle 12 is the only vehicle on the main road and is issued a green light by the RSU. Vehicles 16 and 17 must continue to wait until the intersection is clear. Vehicles 16 and 17 are then the only remaining cars in the intersection. They are identified as the lane leaders for Lane 3 and Lane 4, respectively. The RSU petitions the vehicles for their intentions, and they respond with unicast messages; Vehicle 16 states it wants to turn left and Vehicle 17 states it intends to turn right. Since the main road is empty, a tiebreaker is used by the RSU to determine which of the vehicles will go onto the main road. Vehicle 16 is selected and is issued a green light, and Vehicle 17 is issued a red light.

Figure 11 indicates that Vehicle 17 is the only remaining vehicle at the intersection. Using unicast messages, the RSU determines that Vehicle 17 intends on turning right and issues it a green light. The intersection is then empty. A visual realization of the communications shown in Figures 9–11 is presented in Figure 12.

Figure 9. Successful Traffic Management of Four Vehicles at the Blind Intersection on Nios II Eclipse

🗈 Problems 💩 Tasks 🔍 Console 🛣 Nios II Console 🗶 💷 Properties	
RSU-TEST Nios II Hardware configuration - cable: USB-Blaster on localhost (1-1) device ID: 1 instance ID: 0 name: jtaguart_0 Unicast Message: Venicle ID: 00001010 Flags: 0100	-
Vehicle 16 gets a red light. Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Flags: 0010	
Broadcast Message: ID: 00010000 X: 0000000000000000 Y: 100000000001011 Broadcast Message: ID: 00001001 X: 100000000000111 Y: 100000000000101 Broadcast Message: ID: 0001100X 1: 00000000000010 Y: 100000000000110 Broadcast Message: ID: 0001001 X: 00000000000000 Y: 00000000000110	
Determining Lane Leaders	
Ll Leader is: Vehicle 11 L2 Leader is: NLLL L3 Leader is: Vehicle 16 L4 Leader is: Vehicle 17	
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00001011 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 0000000 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Intention: 0010 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Intention: 0001	
Vehicle 11 gets a green light. Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 60001011 Flags: 0100	
Vehicle 16 and Vehicle 17 get a red light. Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Flags: 0010 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Flags: 0010	
Broadcast Message: ID: 00010000 X: 000000000000000 Y: 100000000000010 Broadcast Message: ID: 00001100 X: 10000000000000110 Y: 1000000000000010 Broadcast Message: ID: 00010001 X: 000000000000000 Y: 00000000000110	-

Figure 10. Successful Traffic Management for Scenarios of Three Vehicles and Two Vehicles at the Blind Intersection

😰 Problems 🧶 Tasks 📮 Console 🛣 Nios II Console 🗶 💷 Properties	
RSU-TEST Nios II Hardware configuration - cable: USB-Blaster on localhost [1-1] device ID: 1 instance ID: 0 name: jtaguart_0	
Determining Lane Leaders	Ē
Ll Leader is: Vehicle 12 L2 Leader is: NULL L3 Leader is: Vehicle 16 L4 Leader is: Vehicle 17	
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00001100 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00001100 Intention: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Intention: 0010 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Intention: 0001	
Vehicle 12 gets a green light. Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00001100 Flags: 0100	
Vehicle 16 and Vehicle 17 get a red light. Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Flags: 0010 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Flags: 0010	
Broadcast Message: ID: 00010000 X: 00000000000000 Y: 100000000000010011 Broadcast Message: ID: 00010001 X: 0000000000000 Y: 00000000000110	
Determining Lane Leaders	
Ll Leader is: NULL L2 Leader is: NULL L3 Leader is: Vehicle 16 L4 Leader is: Vehicle 17	
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Intention: 0010 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Intention: 0001	
Vehicle 16 gets a green light. Vehicle 17 gets a red light	-

Figure 11. Successful Traffic Management of a Single Vehicle at the Blind Intersection

🖹 Problems 🖉 Tasks 🖳 Console 🛣 Nios II Console 🗙 💷 Properties	
RSU-TEST Nios II Hardware configuration - cable: USB-Blaster on localhost [1-1] device ID: 1 instance ID: 0 name: taguart_0 Vehicle 17 gets a red light. Vehicle 17 gets a red light. Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010000 Flags: 0100 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Flags: 0010	•
Broadcast Message: ID: 00010001 X: 000000000000000 Y: 000000000001110	
Determining Lane Leaders	
L1 Leader is: NULL L2 Leader is: NULL L3 Leader is: NULL L4 Leader is: Vehicle 17	
Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Flags: 0001 Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Intention: 0001	
Vehicle 17 gets a green light. Unicast Message: Vehicle ID: 00010001 Flags: 0100	
Determining Lane Leaders	
L1 Leader is: NULL L2 Leader is: NULL L3 Leader is: NULL L4 Leader is: NULL	=
Determining Lane Leaders	
Ll Leader is: NLL L2 Leader is: NLL	•



Figure 12. Traffic Management Conducted by the RSU

4.2 Power Analysis

The battery size for the provided solar power system was 12 V and 5 Ah. The energy contained in this battery can be calculated as

(Voltage) × (Charge Capacity) = (Energy Capacity) (12 V) × (5 Ah) = 60 Wh.

The power consumption of each device in the system was measured using a multimeter to determine current, voltage, and power. These results are documented in Table II. The total system power consumption based on these measurements was 11.85 W. Since the RSU will be operating continuously, the battery lifetime is given by

It is important to note that the recorded power data is for the prototype of the design, and it will change in an implementation using non-developmental equipment. The recommended system backup time for critical infrastructure is at least 10 days per the IEEE 1562 standard. A backup time of 5.06 hours is not acceptable for an RSU since it is critical infrastructure, but this can be corrected by purchasing larger batteries and solar panels. The correct sizing of the panels can be determined from the IEEE 1013 and 1562 standards that specify sizing guidelines for stand-alone photovoltaic systems.

5. Summary & Conclusions

To summarize, this research project makes the following contributions to the existing body of knowledge:

- Adaptation of a Virtual Traffic Light Algorithm: The project modifies a virtual traffic light algorithm to delegate substantial computational tasks to a roadside unit, enhancing efficiency and effectiveness.
- Implementation of the Algorithm on an FPGA Development Board: The adapted algorithm is successfully implemented on a Field-Programmable Gate Array (FPGA) development board, showcasing the feasibility and practicality of the proposed approach.
- Operability Demonstration of Roadside Unit Communication: The project demonstrates the functionality of roadside unit communication through the utilization of software-defined radios. This demonstration serves to validate the efficacy of the communication system.
- Design and Implementation of a Solar-Powered System: A novel solar-powered system, specifically designed for lightweight roadside units, is prototyped. This system operates off the grid, contributing to sustainability and energy efficiency in roadside unit power management.
- Further research should be conducted to determine the system's validity outside of a simulated environment.

Bibliography

- Gill, S., Wong, R., Tayeb, S., Trueblood, F., & Pirouz, M. (2021). Optimizing connectivity for the Internet of Vehicles. In *Proceedings of the Future Technologies Conference (FTC) 2020*, Volume 3 (pp. 578–596). Springer International Publishing.
- Johnson, D., Perkins, C., & Arkko, J. (2004). *Mobility support in IPv6 (No. rfc3775)*. Internet Engineering Task Force. https://datatracker.ietf.org/doc/html/rfc3775
- Naik, G., Choudhury, B., & Park, J. M. (2019). IEEE 802.11 bd & 5G NR V2X: Evolution of radio access technologies for V2X communications. *IEEE Access*, 7, 70169–70184. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2919489
- SAE levels of Driving Automation refined for clarity and international audience. SAE International. (2021, May 3). https://www.sae.org/blog/sae-j3016-update [Online]
- Tayeb, S., Gill, S., Trueblood, F., Wong, R., & Pirouz, M. (2020). A network-centric analysis for the Internet of Vehicles and simulation tools. *IEEE Access*, 8, 68342–68364. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2987065
- Trueblood, F., Gill, S., Wong, R., Tayeb, S., & Pirouz, M. (2020, January). A data-centric approach to taming the message dissemination in the Internet of Vehicles. In 2020 10th Annual Computing and Communication Workshop and Conference (CCWC) (pp. 0207–0214). IEEE.
- Wong, R., White, J., Gill, S., & Tayeb, S. (2022). Virtual traffic light implementation on a roadside unit over 802.11 p wireless access in vehicular environments. *Sensors*, 22(20), 7699. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22207699

About the Author

Shahab Tayeb, PhD

Dr. Shahab Tayeb is a faculty member with the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering in the Lyles College of Engineering at California State University, Fresno. Dr. Tayeb's research expertise and interests include network security and privacy, particularly in the context of the Internet of Vehicles. His research incorporates machine learning techniques and data analytics approaches to tackle the detection of zero-day attacks. Through funding from the Fresno State Transportation Institute, his research team has been working on the security of the network backbone for Connected and Autonomous Vehicles over the past five years. He has also been the recipient of several scholarships and national awards, including a US Congressional Commendation for STEM mentorship.

MTI FOUNDER

Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES :

Founder, Honorable Norman Mineta*** Secretary (ret.), US Department of Transportation

Chair, Jeff Morales Managing Principal InfraStrategies, LLC

Vice Chair, Donna DeMartino Retired Transportation Executive

Executive Director, Karen Philbrick, PhD* Mineta Transportation Institute San José State University

Rashidi Barnes CEO Tri Delta Transit

David Castagnetti Partner Dentons Global Advisors

Kristin Decas CEO & Port Director Port of Hueneme

Stephen J. Gardner* President & CEO Amtrak **Kimberly Haynes-Slaughter** Executive Consultant Olivier, Inc.

Ian Jefferies* President & CEO Association of American Railroads

Diane Woodend Jones Principal & Chair of Board Lea + Elliott, Inc.

Priya Kannan, PhD*

Dean Lucas College and Graduate School of Business San José State University

Will Kempton** Retired Transportation Executive

David S. Kim Senior Vice President Principal, National Transportation Policy and Multimodal Strategy WSP

Therese McMillan Retired Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)

Abbas Mohaddes Chairman of the Board Umovity **Stephen Morrissey** Vice President – Regulatory and Policy United Airlines

Toks Omishakin* Secretary California State Transportation Agency (CALSTA)

Sachie Oshima, MD Chair & CEO Allied Telesis

April Rai President & CEO Conference of Minority Transportation Officials (COMTO)

Greg Regan* President Transportation Trades Department, AFL-CIO

Paul Skoutelas* President & CEO American Public Transportation Association (APTA)

Rodney Slater Partner Squire Patton Boggs

Tony Tavares* Director California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) Lynda Tran CEO Lincoln Room Strategies

Jim Tymon* Executive Director American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

Josue Vaglienty Senior Program Manager Orange County Transportation Authority (OCTA)

* = Ex-Officio ** = Past Chair, Board of Trustees *** = Deceased

Directors

Karen Philbrick, PhD Executive Director

Hilary Nixon, PhD Deputy Executive Director

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, PhD Education Director National Transportation Finance Center Director

Brian Michael Jenkins Allied Telesis National Transportation Security Center

MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE